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LAWS OF THE SOCIETY OF ANTIQUARIES OF SCOTLAND, INSTITUTED NOVEMBER
1780 AND INCORPORATED BY ROYAL CHARTER, 6 MAY 1783

1 The purpose of the Society shall be the study of the ANTIQUITIES AND HISTORY OF
SCOTLAND, more especially by means of Archaeological Research.

2 The Society shall consist of Fellows and Honorary Fellows.
3 Candidates for admission as Fellows must sign the Form of Application prescribed by the

Council, and must be sponsored by a Fellow. Admission shall be by ballot. In the case of
candidates not resident in the United Kingdom, it shall be open to the Council after considera-
tion of the circumstances to waive the necessity for a sponsor.

4 Council shall cause the names of the Candidates and their Sponsors to be circulated to all
Fellows at least ten days before the date of the meeting at which a ballot is to be held. Fellows
may vote against any candidate by striking out the name from the list and returning the list to
the Society before the meeting or placing the list in the Ballot Box before the meeting com-
mences. Candidates receiving ten or more adverse votes will be balloted for individually at
the meeting, and any candidate then receiving less than two-thirds of the votes shall not be
admitted.

5 Honorary Fellows shall consist of persons eminent in any branch of antiquarian study, who
must be recommended by the Council and elected in the same way as Fellows; they shall not
be liable for any fee for admission or annual subscription. The number of Honorary Fellows
shall not exceed twenty-five.

6 Corresponding Members must be recommended by the Council and elected in the same way
as Fellows. They shall not be liable for a fee for admission or annual subscription. This Law
is now repealed.

7 Before the name of a newly elected candidate is added to the list of Fellows, he or she shall
pay to the funds of the Society an entrance fee and the current year's subscription as provided
for by Law 8.

8 Rates of entrance fee and annual subscription shall be determined by the Council as required
from time to time subject to the approval of the Society given at a General Meeting. The
annual subscription shall become due on 1st July in each year for that year then beginning;
and if any Fellow who has not compounded shall fail to pay the subscription for one year, due
application having been made for payment, the Treasurer shall report the same to Council, by
whose authority the name of the defaulter may be erased from the list of Fellows. Fellows
whose membership has lapsed, and who wish to rejoin the Society, may do so either (1) by
payment of all arrears of subscription - in which case they shall receive the relative volumes
of the Proceedings, if still available - or (2) on payment of the subscription for the current
year and of the entrance fee.

9 Every Fellow not being in arrears of the annual subscription shall be entitled to receive the
printed Proceedings of the Society from the date of election.

10 None but Fellows shall vote or hold any office in the Society.
11 Subject to the Laws and to the control of the Society in General Meetings, the affairs of the

Society shall be managed by a Council elected and appointed as hereinafter set forth. Five
members of the Council shall constitute a quorum, provided that number includes one Office-
bearer and one elected member of Council.

12 The Office-bearers shall consist of a President, three Vice-Presidents, and a Treasurer. The
Presidents and the Vice-Presidents shall be elected for a period of three years. One of the
Vice-Presidents shall retire annually by rotation, and shall not be eligible for re-election to the
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same office until one year has elapsed. The Treasurer shall be elected for one year and shall
be eligible for re-election. The elections shall be by ballot at the Annual General Meetings
upon a list issued by the Council for that purpose to the Fellows at least fourteen days before
the meeting.

13 The Council shall consist of the Office-bearers, twelve Fellows elected by the Society, the
Chairman of the North East Section, the Conveners of the Programme, Publication, Research,
Heritage and Finance and Administration Committees if not already elected members, the
Society representative on the Ancient Monuments Board (nominated by the Secretary of State
for Scotland) and a representative of the National Museums of Scotland who is already a
Fellow of the Society (nominated by the Board of Trustees).

14 Four of the twelve elected members of Council shall retire annually by rotation, and shall not
be eligible for re-election as ordinary members of Council until one year has elapsed. Vacancies
among the elected members of Council and Office-bearers occurring by completion of term of
office, by retirement on rotation, by resignation, death or otherwise, shall be filled by election
at the Annual General Meeting, or, in the case of the Treasurer, at any earlier meeting of the
Society as decided by the Council. The election shall be by ballot, as provided for by Law 12.

15 The Council may appoint committees or individual to advise on or to take charge of particular
departments of the Society's business. Individuals who are not Fellows and Fellows who are
not members of the Council shall be eligible for these duties.

16 The Annual General Meeting of the Society shall take place on St Andrew's Day, 30th Nov-
ember, or on the following day if the 30th be a Sunday. The business of the Annual General
Meeting shall be notified to Fellows at least fourteen days before the day of the meeting.

17 The Council shall have the power to call Extraordinary General Meetings when they see cause.
At least fourteen days' notice of an Extraordinary General Meeting shall be given to Fellows.

18 Meetings of the Society, termed Ordinary Meetings, shall be held on such dates and at such
places as may be determined by the Council. A minimum of six meetings, in addition to the
Annual General Meeting provided for in Law 16, shall be held in each year.

19 Every proposal for altering the Laws must be made through the Council, which shall cause
intimation thereof to be made to all the Fellows at least thirty days before the General Meeting
at which it is to be determined on.
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Editorial
Volume 126 of the Proceedings is the second in a series of unusually large, double-volumes (a third
double-volume - Volume 127 - is projected for publication next year). In the 'Editorial' which
introduced the last Proceedings, the then Editor, Mr Humphrey Welfare, explained the unusual cir-
cumstances in which these double-volumes have been generated; these circumstances were described
at greater length in a paper in the same volume by members of Historic Scotland's Inspectorate of
Ancient Monuments, Mr Gordon Barclay and Ms Olwyn Owen. In short, these double volumes
represent the Society's collaboration with Historic Scotland in discharging a backlog of unpublished
excavation reports from recent decades of fieldwork in Scotland. This is a large, but exceptionally
worthwhile undertaking, as it guarantees that the record of archaeological investigations at sites and
monuments of national importance is published to the highest standards available.

Despite the clear importance of these double volumes, they are not undertaken by the Society
without some debate by Council, by the Editorial Board and indeed by the other committees of the
Society which represent the Fellows' interests. One question frequently asked is: 'What sort of
archaeological and historical writing do the Fellows really want?'. The excavation reports and shorter,
synoptic papers in the following pages cast some new light on almost every period of human activity
in Scotland and visit almost every part of the country. Thus, the Editorial Board hopes that it has
achieved one primary aim in bringing to press something of real interest or use to each of the
Society's Fellows.

However, all Fellows will acknowledge that the purpose of Proceedings must also be described
in wider terms. The Proceedings is one of the oldest members of a family of British archaeological
and historical journals; it is the national journal of Scotland. It is received each year, not only by
individuals, but by several hundred museum, university and public libraries, both throughout Britain
and in numerous other countries. As such, it fulfils a paramount aim of the Society in creating a
public record of the history and archaeology of Scotland which is widely available, both to national
and international readerships.

The distribution of the Proceedings is far-flung in time, as well as in space. The Proceedings
has appeared continually since 1851. One of the more common sights in any archaeological work-
place in Scotland - be it a museum, university department, field unit or even private study - is the
extracts from earlier volumes describing investigations by successive generations of fieldworkers.
Thus, from year to year, the Proceedings constitutes a living resource which is avidly quarried by
each new generation of researchers.

In 1997 the 14th centenary of the death of one of Scotland's patron saints, St Columba of
Deny and lona, will have been celebrated. The first recorded notice of archaeological remains on
lona, by J Alfred Smyth, was published in Volume 12 of the Proceedings (1876-78); this was
preceded by a discussion of the topography of the earliest monastic settlement by William Skene in
the previous year (Vol 11: 1874-76). Since then, a dozen excavation reports and other papers have
appeared in these pages, including work by R B K Stevenson (Vol 85: 1950-51), Mark Redknap
(Vol 108: 1976-77), J N Graham Ritchie & Alan Lane (Vol 110: 1978-80), John Barber (Vol 111:
1981), P G Topping (Vol 115: 1985), Anne Hamlin (Vol 117: 1987), Elizabeth & Peter Fowler (Vol
118: 1988), Alison Haggarty (Vol 118: 1988), Finbarr McCormick (Vol 122: 1992) and the present
writer (Vol 124: 1994). This single example suffices to show to what extent developments in Scottish
archaeology march closely with the pages of the Proceedings; it is in this context that one welcomes
the publication of so many new papers in the present double-volume.

Jerry O'Sullivan
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Obituary: Stuart Piggott

In an autobiographical essay published in Antiquity in 1983, Stuart Piggott admitted to incredulity
when Gordon Childe, Professor of Archaeology in the University of Edinburgh, said, in the course
of a chance meeting in 1945, that he hoped Piggott would succeed him in the Abercromby Chair.
The University considered only two names (the other being that of Graham Clarke, later to become
Disney Professor in the University of Cambridge), and to Piggott's surprise in the early summer of
1946 offered the chair to him. Edinburgh had a professor, aged only thirty-six, who was new to
Scottish archaeology, but one who was determined to work on that archaeology and to teach it in a
European context.

Piggott was one of a small body of academic archaeologists who helped to present British and
European prehistory to a wide audience both through his books and in the medium of television. He
was a wordsmith of great skill. Whether writing for an academic audience or for a more popular
market, his beautifully crafted prose has clarity and sparkle. Indeed, in 1947 he published a volume
of verse, Fire among the Ruins. His lectures showed the same thorough preparation, care in composi-
tion and skill in communicating. He set many students on the way to archaeological discovery by
his own enthusiasm for finding out about the past. Under his leadership the Department of Archae-
ology at Edinburgh maintained its international reputation and grew into a formidable teaching unit.
Several generations of his students undertook important research on a wide range of subjects, includ-
ing many important Scottish themes, reflecting his own extraordinary breadth of interest. His endur-
ing contribution is in the scholarship of his many books and major articles, which bring interpretation
and synthesis to different archaeological and antiquarian themes that by their nature demand the
marshalling of myriad pieces of evidence.

It is important to recall the circumstances of the creation of the Abercromby Chair, for it has
a bearing on why Childe was happy to think of Piggott as an appropriate successor. Piggott's constant
citation of the terms of Abercromby's foundation was a significant and lasting influence on how he
chose to undertake his own teaching and research, and on the way that he developed the Department
of Archaeology. John Abercromby, 5th Baron Abercromby of Aboukir and Tullibody (1841-1924),
was an eminent amateur archaeologist whose work on British Bronze Age pottery showed the import-
ance of understanding British material in a European context. He had been Secretary of the Society
from 1902 and contributed to its Excavation Fund. By 1905, however, he had become so dissatisfied
with the Society's methods of excavation that he resigned from this position and withdrew funding,
and in 1916 he laid the foundation of the Chair of Prehistoric Archaeology through a bequest that
the University would receive on his death, as well as the requirements demanded of the eventual
incumbent. The holder was to have a wide knowledge of the archaeology of Europe and the Near
East, to be able to impart his knowledge to the general public, and was to be actively engaged in
research. Proficiency in French and German and to some degree in Italian was expected.

What were Piggott's early contributions to archaeology that caused Childe to consider this
young Englishman as a worthy successor in the only chair of prehistoric archaeology in Britain?
Stuart Piggott was born in 1910 and brought up in the chalk country of southern England, between
Uffington and the Vale of the White Horse in Oxfordshire, where his father's family had lived for
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Illus 1 Professor Stuart Piggott (centre), with Professors Gordon Childe, Richard Atkinson,
Graham Clarke and Christopher Hawkes, Schaffausen, 1950 (Ashmolean Museum).

centuries, and Petersfield in Hampshire, where his father was a teacher and where he went to school.
He had early formed the notion that he would be an archaeologist, but had no idea how he might
realize that ambition. Things fell into place by a series of erratic coincidences. Having left school
without one of the critical qualifying elements that would have allowed him to go forward to univer-
sity (and away from archaeology, no doubt), he was employed as an assistant at Reading Museum,
among the natural history and local archaeological collections. An archaeological note he had written
was put into the parish magazine by the local vicar, where it was picked up by the local newspaper;
thus Piggott came to the attention of O G S Crawford, who was working at the Ordnance Survey on
the Map of Roman Britain. The world of professional archaeology in England was a tiny circle in
the 1920s and 1930s, and soon Piggott was known to them all. In 1928, at the age of eighteen; he
was appointed an investigator with the Royal Commission on the Ancient and Historical Monuments
in Wales, where for five years he undertook fieldwork, including survey in Anglesey for the Inventory
of that county, but other scholarly work was done, elsewhere and in his own free time.

He dug with E C Curwen on the Neolithic enclosure at the Trundle, near Goodwood, Sussex,
and with Alexander Keiller on the Neolithic long earthen burial mound on Thickthorn Down in
Dorset. He left the unsympathetic Royal Commission to work as Keiller's archaeological assistant,
and for five years he dug on a number of prehistoric sites in Wessex, notably the great henge of
Avebury. Later he excavated with Gerhard Bersu at the critically important Iron Age settlement site
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of Little Woodbury. Finally, under the shadow of the war, he and his wife Margaret (Peggy) were
members of Charles Phillip's small team excavating the Sutton Hoo ship burial. What a pedigree as
an excavator. But Piggott's exceptionally active and alert mind was also fully engaged. The Trundle
produced an extensive range of Neolithic artefacts that lit the fuse of his scholarship on British
Neolithic cultures and their European connections. His own research, particularly on the material in
Devizes Museum, laid the foundations for important publications such as his paper in the Proceedings
of the Prehistoric Society which gave us the Wessex Culture. His sensitive penmanship ensured that
his papers were illustrated with clarity and precision.

Along with a number of other archaeologists, Piggott's war service was in aerial photograph
interpretation units. While based in Delhi, he used any available leave to visit museums and sites,
research which resulted in his book Prehistoric India, which remained the first and only synthesis
of the subject, and whose scholarship and confident handling of the material make its origins the
more astonishing. Piggott's grounding had been in the practicalities of excavation and recording, in
artefactual research, and in the preparation of reports. He had an innate ability to gather information
(aided by an encyclopaedic and photographic memory) and to see both the wood and the trees. By
the end of the war he had a formidable publication record, but lacked formal qualifications. In 1945
he became a member of St John's College, Oxford, and began work on a thesis on William Stukeley,
the 18th-century antiquary, but even before the thesis was completed and the B Litt awarded, the
invitation to take up the Edinburgh chair had been received. His interest in the antiquarian tradition
was maintained throughout his life. An engaging volume on the Druids was published in 1968. In
1977 he gathered several papers together into a volume of collected essays, Ruins in a Landscape.
In his retirement he re-worked the book on the Druids, published a revised and enlarged version of his
book on the enigmatic William Stukeley, and in 1989 produced Ancient Britons and the antiquarian
imagination: ideas from the Renaissance to the Regency.

His breadth of interest attained the intentions of the founder of the Abercromby Chair, and the
balance between such broad research and teaching and his responsibilities in Scotland were to be
maintained for the next thirty years - a period that may be considered under four themes: archaeolo-
gical research and excavation; work within the University; involvement in the affairs of the Society;
participation in the running of British archaeology generally.

Stuart Piggott has said that he was unprepared for the fact that archaeology in Scotland had
not kept abreast of developments further south and he and Peggy set out to remedy the situation by
means of excavations and publications that might be seen as models of best practice. The Society of
Antiquaries of Scotland and the Scottish Field School of Archaeology frequently acted as sponsors
of the excavations. Something of that determination is seen in the Proceedings of 1947—8 (published
in 1950) with the reports of the excavations at Cairnpapple Hill, West Lothian, and C M Piggott's
work at Hownam Rings, Roxburgh, and those of 1948-9, published in the following year, which
include C M Piggott's report on Hayhope Knowe and that of Stuart Piggott and T G E Powell on
three Neolithic chambered tombs, including Cairnholy, Kirkcudbrightshire. Work on the Clava cairns
followed. The Piggotts' draughtsmanship in the presentation of excavation information and in the
recording of artefacts set standards that are hard to emulate. Excavations were also undertaken in
Wessex notably at Stonehenge, West Kennet long barrow and Wayland's Smithy long barrow in
association with R J C Atkinson, initially a colleague in Edinburgh, and latterly Professor of Archae-
ology at the University of Wales, Cardiff. With Atkinson he studied the pieces of Celtic metalwork
that had been put together to form the Torrs Chamfrein, from Kirkcudbright; they concluded that the
drinking horn terminals and the pony head decoration had not originally formed a single decorative
unit, but the publication in 1955 of the results of the investigation in Archaeologia, the occasional
journal of the Society of Antiquaries of London, brought the importance of Scottish Celtic art to a
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wider audience. In 1970 this continued enthusiasm for Celtic art, from fire-dogs and swords to
cauldron chains, brought about the memorable Edinburgh Festival exhibition on Early Celtic Art,
which was later transferred (less sympathetically arranged) to the Hayward Gallery, London.

Piggott saw the archaeology of Scotland within the wider framework of north-west Europe, and
felt that knowledge about that archaeology should be on a firm base and should be widely known.
Students and researchers were encouraged to have first-hand knowledge of material in the field or in
museum collections, to catalogue, examine, draw, and then to form conclusions. In the spirit of
Abercromby, the popular distillation of new approaches to such a broad vision was published as
Scotland Before History in 1958.

Within the University of Edinburgh, Stuart Piggott set himself a huge task, the building of a
Department of Archaeology that taught a full honours degree programme. Piggott formed a new MA
honours degree in archaeology to replace Gordon Childe's BSc degree. By necessity, at first he
taught single-handed, but he patiently and skilfully built up a broadly based departmental team, with
a national and international reputation for excellence in teaching and research. It was at this period
that he wrote British Prehistory for Hutchinson's University Library, and somehow found the time
to complete his monumental work on the British Neolithic, The Neolithic Cultures of the British
Isles, outdated maybe, but not yet surpassed. Soon he had Richard Atkinson at his side; with the
support of the medieval historians, a post was created for an early medieval period archaeologist,
which brought Charles Thomas to Edinburgh. Then in collaboration with David Talbot Rice of Fine
Art and the classicists, a post in classical archaeology was established that would serve the needs of
all three groups, and Anthony Snodgrass was appointed. All three of these first appointees went on
from Edinburgh to influential chairs elsewhere, Atkinson to found the Department of Archaeology
at Cardiff, Charles Thomas to Exeter via Leicester, and Anthony Snodgrass to the Chair of Classical
Archaeology in Cambridge. Mary-Jane Mountain was appointed to extend the teaching scope to early
hominids and hunter-gatherer societies. She was to play an important role, along with Trevor
Watkins, in Piggott's last Scottish excavation at Dalladies long barrow in Kincardineshire in
1970 and 1971 (published promptly, with his own inimitable site drawings, in the Proceedings for
1971-2).

Postgraduate research students were channelled towards Scottish topics among others, with the
results appearing in the pages of the Proceedings, notably John Coles on the Late Bronze Age in
Scotland. Piggott was an inspiring teacher whose lectures and seminars not only gave the student the
essential grounding, but also the encouragement to dare to emulate his scholarship, and to explore
ideas widely and deeply. His university teaching on European prehistory was distilled into the Rhind
Lectures of the Society in 1962, which in turn led to the publication in 1965 of Ancient Europe by
Edinburgh University Press. It is not only Piggott's grasp of European prehistory from the Neolithic
period to the Iron Age, but his geographical range that is so remarkable. Piggott encouraged his
students to think and to wonder, to observe and to record. He taught the dual importance of the
literal description and the visual interpretation and he pondered this in his Walter Neurath Lecture
Antiquity Depicted in 1978. His former students will remember a figure that
could be distant or could be fun. As host, often to archaeologists from overseas, his carefully scripted
menus spoke of a precision in preparation of a series of dishes that were always a delight to ex-
perience.

Stuart Piggott regarded his responsibilities to the University as a senior Professor and Head of
Department as a chore, and he was not to be seen willingly participating in the affairs of Faculty or
Senatus. He was by no means a single-minded prehistorian, however. He had a wide circle of intellec-
tual friends and acquaintances in Edinburgh, including major scientific thinkers like C H Waddington
the geneticist, Longuet-Higgins, and Richard Gregory. Stuart's archaeological science was based on
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philosophical foundations concerning the nature of history as well as prehistory, and an appreciation
of the problems of perception and knowledge, though these foundations were rarely laid bare in his
writings.

Piggott found certain members of the Society particularly supportive, notably A O Curie, and
he was soon involved in the Society's affairs. He had been a Fellow since 1938, and on his arrival
in Edinburgh was at once elected a Council member, and Secretary for Foreign Correspondence from
1950. His election to the Presidency in 1967 represented an important change in the Society's tradi-
tion. He ensured that the Society had scholarly leadership and used his presidency, the last to be a
five-year term, to work with the Secretary, Basil Skinner, at the modernization of the Society, fitting
it for its role in the intellectual life of Scotland in the later 20th century.

Stuart Piggott's service to archaeology in Scotland, Britain and beyond had a constancy that is
important to stress, for it involved meetings and committees in London and elsewhere, that necessi-
tated travel and preparation that lessened time for what mattered, archaeological thinking. He
believed that participation in such committee work was part of the job, but he never relished it. He
was a Trustee of the National Museum of Antiquities of Scotland from 1954 until he left Scotland
in 1977, a member of the Royal Commission on the Ancient and Historical Monuments of Scotland
between 1946 and 1976, and a member of the Ancient Monuments Board for Scotland for most of
the time that he was in Edinburgh. Between 1968 and 1974 he was a Trustee of the British Museum.
For many years he was one of the Trustees of Antiquity. He had a long-standing interest in the
Prehistoric Society, having been one of the Young Turks who, in 1935, engineered the transition of
the Prehistoric Society of East Anglia into the national society that it is today, and he acted as its
President between 1962 and 1966. His scholarship and service were widely recognized. He was
elected a Fellow of the British Academy in 1954. He was awarded an honorary doctorate by Colum-
bia University, a CBE in 1972, the Gold Medal of the Society of Antiquities of London in 1983 and
an Honorary DLitt by Edinburgh University in 1984.

Piggott has been criticised by some for not creating a Scottish school of archaeologists. The
clarion call for a Scottish school of archaeologists was given by J Anderson in his final Rhind Lecture
to the Society, but it was not taken up by his immediate successors. Abercromby's intervention
initiated a different perspective for teaching and research at Edinburgh, seeing the Scottish element
in a wider dimension, and this was a road that Piggott was happy to maintain. His scholarship was
reinforced by his travels in Europe, while his international reputation meant that he received visitors
and offprints from all over the world - all neatly filed into box-files in his library, where he could
pull out anything by means of the wallpaper offcuts with which he colour-coded his files. He was a
quiet internationalist, supporting the congresses of the UISPP, and working through the British Acad-
emy to establish links and arrange academic exchanges with the USSR Academy of Sciences and
the academies of other countries of the Soviet bloc.

On retirement in 1977 he moved to a thatched cottage that had belonged to maiden aunts in
West Challow, nestled below the Uffington White Horse. He extended the house to contain his
prodigious library, and there he continued his research and writing. His friends were liable to receive
calligraphic postcards from Professor Piggins, of the Department of Speculative and Preventive
Archaeology, University of West Challow. He had once horrified a serious visitor who asked him
what was the purpose of archaeology; Stuart replied that it should be fun. That meant seeking to
satisfy his curiosity and develop a better understanding, setting himself challenging and high stand-
ards of scholarship, and producing work of the highest intellectual quality communicated in the most
beautiful of prose. In his latter years, he found the tendentiousness of much 'New Archaeology'
tedious. Ill-health took away more of the fun, but did not prevent him from adding significantly to his
formidable contribution to archaeological scholarship with major publications including the editing of
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the first part, Prehistory, of Volume 1 of The Agrarian History of England and Wales, The Earliest
Wheeled Transport from the Atlantic Coast to the Caspian Sea in 1983, Wagon, Chariot and Car-
riage: Symbol and Status in the History of Transport in 1992, and a contribution to The Celtic World
in 1995.

The writers are indebted to Dr I B M Ralston for his contribution to the preparation of this
memorial. The illustration is courtesy Dr A Sherratt, Ashmolean Museum, Oxford.

Graham Ritchie and Trevor Watkins


